RECEIVED

Jan 27 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001224
Case No. 2016-CP-10-03783

Opinion No. 2025-6099

The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Home Owners Association, Inc., and The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime,
Plaintiffs,

v.

Questions Presented on Certiorari

1. When a contractor files a general third-party claim against its subcontractor seeking to recover in contractual indemnity for all damages for which it might be held liable, does such claim include those damages for which the subcontractor is either solely or concurrently responsible?
2. Should a contract provision imposing an obligation to indemnify – specifically as it relates to a contractor’s claim for damages for which its subcontractor is either solely or concurrently responsible – be construed in accordance with precedent and with the laws governing contracts generally, or should it for the first time be subject to the heightened “clear and unequivocal” standard that would be applicable if the contractor were solely seeking indemnity for its *own* negligence?
3. Should the court restrict its inquiry to the provision of the contract directly at issue, that is, the indemnification provision, rather than considering provisions under which no cause of action has been brought in this case, and should the inquiry into the meaning of the contract always give defined terms in the parties' contract the limited meaning ascribed to them in the contract?
4. Does the court's refusal to honor the severance language in this contract, and its consequent refusal to sever the offending language and thus save the contract, violate the Supreme Court's precedent?
6. Is a trial court’s order that is on appeal, and thus on which judgment has not yet been finally entered, considered sufficiently “final” for collateral estoppel or res judicata purposes?

Statement of the Case

This appeal is the result of a long and complex construction defect litigation originally filed by the Plaintiffs on July 22, 2016. See A. pp. 174-186. The Plaintiffs, The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Homes Owners Association, Inc. and The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime, sought recovery of damages allegedly occasioned by deficiencies in original construction of the subject project, a multi-family development, consisting of 32 buildings, encompassing a total of 129 townhome units, located in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. See *Id.*

The Plaintiffs' claims, as asserted against Petitioner Builders FirstSource – Southeast Group, LLC (“BFS” or “Petitioner”), allege, among other contentions, that the framing and window installation services of BFS were deficient, resulting in water intrusion and corresponding damages. See A. pp. 177-179. Plaintiffs' forensic expert has also opined: (a) that the windows at the project are characterized by inadequate DP ratings, requiring comprehensive replacement of those windows; (b) that installation was performed using incorrect fasteners, which were, both (i) of improper type, and (ii) of inadequate length to assure required embedment of the fastener into the framing; and (c) that fasteners were installed at spacing intervals which exceeded those required by the manufacturer's installation criteria. See A. pp. 1107, 1108, 1111.

BFS contracted with several subcontractors who performed the allegedly defective installation work at the project. BFS supplied the framing lumber, windows, and exterior doors among other material components for original construction. BFS's subcontractors were required to supply the fasteners utilized in installation of the material components as well as provide the tools and labor necessary to perform the installation services. Therefore, BFS filed cross-claims or third-party claims, against its subcontractors, including: ECC Contracting, LLC, Hurley Services, LLC, McDaniel Construction Co¹, LLC, AC Construction Corp and/or AC Construction Inc., L&G Construction Group, LLC, WS Contractors, LLC, Pohlman Quality Exteriors, Inc., Palmetto Trim and Renovations, LLC, Edward Bruce Witham², and East Coast Carpentry Company. See A. pp. 414-454. The claims of BFS included causes of action in negligence, breach

¹ Plaintiffs filed a Stipulation of Dismissal dismissing their claims with prejudice against McDaniel Construction Co, LLC on April 17, 2020. Therein, Plaintiffs stipulated that there are no defects in the work performed by McDaniel Construction Co, LLC on the project that is the subject of this suit. Premised upon Plaintiffs' stipulations, the Honorable Bentley D. Price granted McDaniel Construction Co, LLC summary judgment as to Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC claims on December 18, 2020. McDaniel Construction Co, LLC is not a party to this appeal.

² The Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy Ordered an Entry of Default against Edward Bruce Witham on June 12, 2020. Edward Bruce Witham is not a party to this appeal.

of express and implied warranty, breach of contract, contractual indemnity and equitable indemnity. See A. pp. 414-454.

Of the above-mentioned subcontractors, eight moved for summary judgment at various times during 2019 and/or 2020. All eight subcontractors' motions were heard on November 6, 2020, by the Hon. Jennifer McCoy. See A. pp. 1386-1450. Each subcontractor argued its own motion, and the arguments forming the basis for the different motions varied from subcontractor to subcontractor. See *Id.* On May 10, 2021, Judge McCoy issued seven³ separate Form 4 Orders granting, or granting in part, summary judgment to the subcontractors, and requesting that *each* subcontractor submit its own proposed order. See A. pp. 1-21. As a result, Judge McCoy received eight different proposed orders, one from each subcontractor, with each outlining different legal and factual grounds for an award of summary judgment. Judge McCoy then adopted each of the eight proposed orders over the course of multiple days. On July 7, 2021, Judge McCoy issued orders granting, in part, summary judgment to: Hurley Services, ECC Contracting; AC Construction; L&G Construction; and Pohlman Quality Exteriors. See A. pp. 22-41, 58-83, 102-121. On July 26, 2021, Judge McCoy issued an order granting, in part, summary judgment to Palmetto Trim and Renovations. See A. pp. 50-57. On July 29, 2021, Judge McCoy issued orders granting, or, granting in part, summary judgment to: East Coast Carpentry; and WS Contractors. See A. pp. 42-49, 84-101.

BFS timely moved for reconsideration of each of the eight orders. See A. pp. 1208-1385. On August 23, 2021, Judge McCoy issued eight Form 4 Orders denying each of BFS's motions for reconsideration. See A. pp. 122-145. BFS separately filed eight notices of appeal – one for each order – on September 22, 2021. By letter dated October 7, 2021, the Clerk of Court for the

³ The trial court did not issue a Form 4 Order addressing L&G's motion, however, it ultimately grant partial summary judgment to L&G in an order dated July 7, 2021.

court of appeals advised the parties to this action that it had consolidated the eight appeals filed by BFS. BFS responded by letter dated October 25, 2021, and later by motion dated November 22, 2021, setting forth its objections to consolidation of the appeals. Nonetheless, by letter dated January 28, 2022, the court of appeals reaffirmed the consolidation.

On appeal, this case was considered by a panel of judges composed of Judges McDonald, Thomas, and Verdin. BFS's final briefs were submitted on November 14, 2022, and oral arguments were held on March 5, 2024. The court of appeals issued its order as a published opinion on February 12, 2025, affirming the trial court's orders. BFS filed a petition for rehearing on February 27, 2025. On May 21, 2025, the court of appeals issued a substituted opinion denying the petition for rehearing. BFS then filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari on June 20, 2025, which was granted on December 16, 2025. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Certain parts of BFS's pleadings and BFS's contracts with Respondent subcontractors are relevant to multiple arguments before the Court. For the Court's convenience, relevant portions of these documents are introduced here and then referenced throughout the Argument section.

Respondent subcontractors have argued, and the lower courts have mistakenly held, that BFS's pleadings seek indemnification from its subcontractors for BFS's own negligence. Thus, we must first turn to the original text of the allegations BFS asserted against the Respondent subcontractors.

BFS's operative pleading alleging its indemnification cause of action provides:

133. That the Plaintiff, The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club HOA, Inc., and The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property Regime, have sued Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC (hereinafter sometimes "BFS"), asserting damages allegedly caused, inter alia, by deficiencies in framing, including but not limited

to deficiencies in the installation of windows, doors, and related components during original construction of the subject structures.

134. That BFS has denied the material allegations asserted against BFS in the Plaintiffs' Fourth Amended Complaint.

135. That the respective subcontracts between this Defendant and the Cross Claim Defendants, provide for contractual indemnification in favor of BFS.

136. That the Cross Claim Defendants served as subcontractors to BFS in connection with their services at the subject structures. Regardless, therefore, of any specific contractual obligation to indemnify, there exists a special relationship between this Defendant and the Cross Claim Defendants, sufficient to impose obligations of indemnity against the aforesaid Cross Claim Defendants, in favor of BFS.

137. That to the extent, if any, that BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs, or to others in this action, such liability would be a direct and proximate result of the wrongful acts, omissions, negligence, gross negligence, and/or representations of the Cross Claim Defendants, which have damaged BFS, as BFS has been subjected to liability and has incurred consequential damages in having to expend attorneys' fees and costs in defending against the Plaintiffs' claims.

138. That BFS is entitled to full contractual and common law indemnification from the Cross Claim Defendants, for any liability BFS is found to have to the Plaintiffs or to others in this action, and BFS is also entitled to damages for any negligence, as aforesaid, on the part of the Cross Claim Defendants, entitling BFS to recover from the Cross Claim Defendants, its attorneys' fees, costs, and other expenses incurred in defending this action, and further entitling BFS to recover from the Cross Claim Defendants any sums for which BFS may be held liable to the Plaintiffs or to others, or which Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC may pay in satisfaction of such claims.

See A. pp. 440, 441 – BFS's Cross-claim for Indemnification. Similar language is used in BFS's Third-Party claim for Indemnification. See Paragraphs 162-168 at A. pp. 447-49.

Consistent with its pleadings, BFS has maintained since the filing of its initial pleading, and its counsel has reiterated multiple times on the record since, that it is not seeking to recover in indemnity for liability or damage that may have been caused by its own negligence, but only for liability or damage caused by the negligence of its subcontractors. See, e.g., A. p. 1422, ll. 20-25.

In addition to contesting BFS's pleadings, the Respondent subcontractors argued and the lower courts held that the indemnity provisions are neither clear nor unequivocal. Thus, we must next review the parties' contracts.

BFS entered into separate written contractual agreements with each of the Respondent subcontractors. See A. pp. 1451-1525. All of the contracts, including the defined terms, sections, and provisions therein, are nearly identical in form and substance. See Id. For example, all of the contracts begin with a "**SECTION 1. Introduction.**", which states, in relevant part, that the "Agreement contains the basic terms and conditions under which Subcontractor agrees to provide materials and/or to perform services (the "**Work**")" See A. pp. 1451, 1464, 1477, 1489, 1501, 1514. The term Work, defined in SECTION 1 as the materials provided and/or services performed by the Subcontractor, is subsequently used throughout the contracts. See A. pp. 1451-1525. This defined term "**Work**" is critical to an appropriate reading of the contracts, because each Agreement, and all the contractual rights and obligations of the parties, is limited to the Subcontractor's Work. See Id.

The parties' contracts are different versions of a Master Agreement and were entered into at different times. Due, however, to the factual similarities, the parties and the lower courts have labeled them as the "2005 Contracts" and the "Later Contracts" respectively. BFS entered into the 2005 Contracts with Respondent subcontractors East Coast Carpentry Co. (A. pp. 1461-60) and Palmetto Trim & Renovations (A. pp. 1464-73). BFS entered into the Later Contracts with Respondent subcontractors ECC Contracting (A. pp. 1477-1488), WS Contractors (A. pp. 1489-

1500), Hurley Services (A. pp. 1501-1512), Pohlman Quality Exteriors (A. pp. 1514-1525), L&G Construction, and AC Construction.⁴

The relevant indemnity provision in the 2005 Contracts is as follows:

Section 6. Waiver, Release, and Indemnification. Subcontractor agrees that Subcontractor, and not Contractor, shall be responsible for all injuries, losses, or damages to Subcontractor, its employees, agents, and subcontractors and to any other parties arising from or relating in any way to the performance of the Work or the actions or inactions of Subcontractor or its agents, employees, and subcontractors. Subcontractor will indemnify, defend, and hold Contractor harmless against any such injuries and claims. Accordingly:

a. **Waiver.** [Omitted - applies only to Subcontractor's workers' compensation claims]

b. **Release and Indemnity.**

(1) Subcontractor hereby agrees to release, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Contractor and Owner and their affiliates and employees, directors, officers, agents, and invitees (each an "**Indemnitee**"), to the fullest extent permitted by law from any costs, expenses, demands, causes of action, claims, damage, liability, loss, or costs ("**Claims**") (together with attorneys' fees) arising out of, resulting from, or connected with the death of or any injury to, or any damage to the property of, Subcontractor or its employees, agents, or subcontractors or any of their respective subcontractors, employees, officers, agents, or invitees.

(2) For all Claims not covered by (1) above and to the fullest extent permitted by law, Subcontractor agrees to release, indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Indemnitees for, and to save them harmless against, any and all Claims (together with reasonable attorneys' fees), to the extent of liability resulting from Subcontractor's negligence or willful misconduct incurred by the Indemnitees which arise out of or relate to (i) any alleged personal injury, death, or property damage arising from or connected with the Work; (ii) any alleged defect or malfunction in any of the services or materials provided in connection with the Work; or (iii) omissions resulting from Indemnitee's failure to supervise Subcontractor's operations.

See A. pp. 1455-56, 1468-69.

The relevant indemnity provision in the Later Contracts is as follows:

SECTION 5. INDEMNITY.

⁴ The Record on Appeal does not contain copies of the contracts for L&G Construction and AC Construction, however their contracts are identical in form and content to the "Later Contracts," and this explains why L&G and AC filed motions joining other parties' motions for summary judgment. See A. pp. 1156, 1205-1207.

TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE SUBCONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD HARMLESS THE CONTRACTOR, THE OWNER, AND ALL OF THEIR OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, AGENTS, AND EMPLOYEES FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, SUITS, LOSSES, CAUSES OF ACTION, DAMAGES, LIABILITIES, FINES, PENALTIES, AND EXPENSES OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ARBITRATION OR COURT COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S FEES (SUCH LEGAL EXPENSES TO INCLUDE COSTS INCURRED IN ESTABLISHING THE INDEMNIFICATION AND OTHER RIGHTS AGREED TO IN THIS PARAGRAPH) ARISING OUT OF OR RESULTING FROM BODILY INJURY OR DEATH OF ANY PERSON, OR PROPERTY DAMAGE, INCLUDING LOSS OF USE OF PROPERTY, ARISING OR ALLEGED TO ARISE OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SUBCONTRACTOR'S PERFORMANCE OF THE WORK OR OTHER ACTIVITIES OF THE SUBCONTRACTOR, BUT ONLY TO THE EXTENT CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY ANY NEGLIGENT ACT OR OMISSION OF THE SUBCONTRACTOR OR ANYONE DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY EMPLOYED BY THE SUBCONTRACTOR OR ANYONE FOR WHOSE ACTS THE SUBCONTRACTOR MAY BE LIABLE. THE CONTRACTOR'S INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS WHICH SUBCONTRACTOR IS SUBJECT TO UNDER THIS AGREEMENT ARE SEPARATE AND DISTINCT FROM THE REQUIREMENT OF INDEMNIFICATION HEREUNDER.

See A. pp. 1482, 1494, 1506, 1519.

Here, where the underlying litigation arises out of alleged construction defects and resulting property damage claims, the Respondent subcontractors who are parties to the 2005 Contracts have agreed to indemnify BFS "to the extent of liability resulting from [the] Subcontractor's negligence or willful misconduct." See A. p. 1455-56, 1468-69. Similarly, the Respondent subcontractors who are parties to the Later Contracts have agreed to indemnify BFS "but only to the extent caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission of the subcontractor." See A. pp. 1482, 1494, 1506, 1519. Thus, contrary to Respondent subcontractors' arguments, the indemnification provisions in the 2005 Contracts and Later Contracts are not only completely consistent with the relief sought by BFS, but also explicitly authorized by law.

Lastly, some of the Respondent subcontractors argued and the court of appeals correspondingly held that other contractual provisions in the Later Contracts conflict with the relevant indemnity provision and/or violate South Carolina law.

Before setting forth the other contested provisions, BFS would emphasize, and will argue further below, that upon proper reading, i.e. when read in context and with appropriate consideration of defined terms, like "Work," the provisions do not stand for what the Respondent subcontractors argued and the court of appeals held. Equally importantly, the other provisions, specifically including provisions relating to warranty, bodily injury claims, and/or mechanic's liens, are (a) separate and distinct from the relevant indemnity provisions, (b) unrelated to the claims asserted here, and (c) not relied upon by BFS in the assertion of its claims against the Respondent subcontractors.

The other contested provisions of the Later Contracts are as follows:

A) SECTION 3. Warranty.

In addition to any other warranty or guarantee expressly made by Subcontractor or implied by Law, Subcontractor unconditionally warrants and guarantees the Work will conform to any specifications provided by Contractor and comply with all Law and Subcontractor guarantees the Work against defects in design, workmanship, and materials for the benefit of Contractor and its successors and assigns, Owner, as well as the ultimate owner of any structure into which the Work is incorporated. This guarantee will commence upon the Subcontractor's completion of the Work and will continue for a minimum of (a) three (3) years for all Work except, (b) ten (10) years for all Work consisting of any structural applications of any home, building, or other structure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this warranty will continue until such time as all express and implied warranties granted or deemed granted by Contractor and all other obligations of Contractor related to the Work are terminated or expired as a matter of Law. If demand is made upon Subcontractor to perform under this warranty, Subcontractor at its sole cost and expense will expeditiously repair or replace, at Contractor's sole option, any defective or nonconforming Work and indemnify Contractor and any other party for any costs incurred by any party relating to such demand. This warranty shall extend to all consequential damages resulting from such faults and/or defects of design, material, and workmanship described in this Section, including, without limitation, property damage to the homes or properties into which the Work is incorporated. If Subcontractor fails to perform under this warranty, the party entitled to performance or Contractor will have the right to hire other persons to correct or replace the defective Work and hold Subcontractor liable for the costs thereof including

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