THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 17 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Jennifer B. McCoy
Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-10-03783

Court of Appeals Case No. 2021-001050
Opinion No. 6099 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 12, 2025)

Appellate Case No. 2025-001224

The Retreat at Charleston National County Club Home Owners Association, Inc., and
The Retreat at Charleston National Country Club Horizontal Property
Regime.....Plaintiffs,

v.

Winston Carlyle Charleston National, LLC; Colin R. Campbell Construction, Inc.;

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

Subcontractor’s obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless under this Section 5 will survive the expiration or earlier termination of this agreement until it is finally determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction or arbitration panel that a claim against the contractor, the owner, and any of their officers, directors, agents, and employees for the matter indemnified hereunder is fully and finally barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

(emphasis added, all caps in the original) (A. pp. 1482-83).

Taken together, these provisions require subcontractors to not only indemnify BFS for claims arising from BFS’s own negligence, but also to defend BFS regardless of BFS’s fault. By its plain terms, the Master Agreement shifts liability for BFS’s own negligence onto its subcontractors.

South Carolina’s Anti-Indemnity Statute prohibits precisely this type of contractual arrangement. See S.C. Code Ann. §32-2-10 (a promise or agreement in connection with the design, planning, construction, alteration, repair or maintenance of a building ... purporting to indemnify the promise ... against liability for damages arising out of bodily injury or property damage is against public policy and unenforceable). Critically, the statute does not provide that only specific clauses are void. Rather, it declares the agreement itself is against public policy and unenforceable as a matter of law. If there is any doubt as to the absolute nature of this rule, the statute provides this rule is true “notwithstanding any other provision of law.” Id.

South Carolina courts have repeatedly enforced this statutory prohibition. As BFS is well aware, in D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC, the Court of Appeals held that an indemnity provision requiring a subcontractor to indemnify a contractor for damages caused by the contractor’s own negligence violated § 32-2-10 rendering the contract void as against public policy. D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource-Southeast Group, LLC, 422 S.C. 144, 152, 810 S.E.2d 41, 45–46 (Ct. App. 2018). Because the agreement violated the statute, the court

refused to require the indemnitor (BFS) to pay damages caused by the indemnitee's (D.R. Horton) negligence. Id. The Court reaffirmed the longstanding principle that "an illegal contract is unenforceable." Id. (citing Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 64, 566 S.E.2d 863, 866-867 (Ct. App. 2002)).

The same reasoning applies here. BFS's Master Agreement expressly requires subcontractors to indemnify and defend BFS for claims arising from BFS's own negligence. That is precisely the type of contractual risk-shifting § 32-2-10 prohibits. Once a contract purports to indemnify a contractor for its own negligence in violation of § 32-2-10, courts may not salvage it through selective enforcement or judicial revision. The Supreme Court has consistently held that "courts will not enforce a contract when the subject matter of the contract or an act required for performance violates public policy as expressed in constitutional provisions, statutory law, or judicial decisions." White v. J.M. Brown Amusement Co., Inc., 360 S.C. 366 (2004) (citing Berkebile v. Outen, 311 S.C. 50, 53-54, 426 S.E.2d 760, 762 (1993) stating that "an illegal contract has always been unenforceable").

Nor can BFS avoid the statute by characterizing its claims as one for attorney's fees or defense costs. BFS has admitted that its attorneys fees are "consequential damages of an indemnity claim" in its briefing at the trial court level. A. p. 1380. Although attorney's fees may be recoverable by contract or statute, such provisions must still comply with South Carolina law. Rimer v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 248 S.C. 18, 27, 148 S.E.2d 742, 746 (1966). Nothing in South Carolina law permits a contractor to recover defense costs for claims arising from its own negligence where the Anti-Indemnity Statute would otherwise prohibit indemnification.

Because the Master Agreement purports to require ECC to indemnify BFS for liability arising from BFS's own conduct, in violation of S.C. Code Ann. §32-2-10, the entire agreement is

unenforceable as a matter of law. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the statute and properly declined to enforce a contractual provision that contravenes South Carolina public policy.

VI. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY APPLIED THE HEIGHTENED “CLEAR AND UNEQUIVOCAL” STANDARD

Even if the Anti-Indemnity Statute did not independently invalidate the agreement, BFS’s indemnity provisions still fail under South Carolina’s clear and unequivocal standard governing contractual indemnification.

South Carolina courts strictly construe contractual provisions that purport to relieve a party from the consequences of its own negligence. Federal Pac. Elec. v. Carolina Prod. Enters., 298 S.C. 23, 27, 378 S.E.2d 56, 58 (1989). Such provisions are enforceable only when the parties’ intent to shift liability for the indemnitee’s own negligence is expressed in “clear and unequivocal” language. Ashley II of Charleston, LLC v. PCS Nitrogen, Inc., 409 S.C. 490, 501, 762 S.E.2d 696, 702 (2014); Concord and Cumberland Horizontal Property Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, 424 S.C. 639, 646, 819 S.E.2d 166 (Ct. App. 2018). This standard applies whenever a contract’s scope is broad enough to encompass the indemnitee’s own negligence. Courts look to the objective language of the agreement, rather than a party’s later self-serving characterization of its claims. Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003) (“The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties’ intentions as determined by the contract language”). The Court of Appeals correctly applied that settled framework.

A. The Contractual Framework Implicates BFS’s Own Negligence

The Master Agreement repeatedly contemplates claims arising from BFS’s own conduct. Paragraph 2 of Section 5 requires subcontractors to indemnify BFS even where the loss is alleged

to have been caused by BFS. Paragraph 3 of Section 5 provides that the duty to defend “exists regardless of any ultimate liability or negligence of the contractor [BFS].” A. p. 1482.

Other provisions reinforce the expansive nature of the contractual scheme. Section 3, though styled as a warranty provision, requires subcontractors to “unconditionally warrant” the work against “defects in design... and materials.” A. p. 1480. Because ECC’s role was limited to installation, while BFS selected and supplied the windows and doors, this provision effectively operates as a disguised indemnity for BFS’s own negligent selection of materials. Section 2 further expands the subcontractor’s exposure by requiring protection of materials “regardless of who supplied such materials.” A. pp. 1479-80. Section 8(i) similarly authorizes BFS to recover attorney’s fees relating to materials furnished at the project, including materials supplied by BFS itself. A. p. 1487.

When read together, these provisions extend beyond damages attributable solely to subcontractor workmanship. Instead, they expose subcontractors to liability arising from BFS’s own conduct. Because the contractual framework encompasses BFS’s own negligence, the heightened clear and unequivocal standard governs the enforceability of the indemnity provisions.

B. The Indemnity Provisions Fail the Clear and Unequivocal Standard

The Master Agreement does not meet the clear and unequivocal standard as the indemnity provisions contain internally inconsistent indemnity obligations.

BFS relies primarily upon Paragraph 1 of Section 5, which purports to limit indemnity to damages “to the extent caused in whole or part” by the subcontractor. A. p. 1482. This language mirrors the standard AIA indemnity clause limiting indemnity to losses “caused in whole or in part” by the subcontractor. The Court of Appeals addressed this precise language in Concord and Cumberland Horizontal Property Regime v. Concord & Cumberland, LLC, holding that it does

not satisfy the heightened “clear and unequivocal” standard when an indemnitee seeks protection from its own negligence. 424 S.C. at 653–55, 819 S.E.2d at 174–75. BFS nevertheless asks this Court to treat the same language as though it clearly limits indemnity to subcontractor negligence.

The analysis, however, cannot end with Paragraph 1. Paragraph 2 of Section 5 expands the subcontractor’s obligation to claims involving BFS’s own negligence. Although Paragraph 2 addresses personal injury claims rather than the property damage claim at issue here, it reveals the drafting structure of the agreement: BFS simultaneously attempts to limit indemnity to subcontractor fault while elsewhere requiring protection even when BFS’s own negligence is implicated. Paragraph 3 of Section 5 further compounds this inconsistency by requiring ECC to defend BFS regardless of fault.

These provisions cannot be reconciled with BFS’s assertion that the agreement was intended to apply only to subcontractor negligence. As the drafter of these conflicting provisions, any uncertainty as to the meaning of the terms must be construed against BFS. Springs & Davenport, Inc. v. AAG, Inc., 385 S.C. 320, 683 S.E.2d 814, 817 (Ct. App. 2009).

Such contradictory language cannot clearly and unequivocally establish an intent to indemnify BFS for its own negligence. The absence of clarity is precisely the circumstance in which South Carolina courts refuse to enforce indemnity provisions shifting liability for the indemnitee’s negligence. Both courts below correctly recognized that these mutually inconsistent indemnity provisions fail the heightened standard.

C. BFS Cannot Avoid The Clear and Unequivocal Standard By Recasting Its Claim

BFS attempts to bypass the clear and unequivocal standard by retroactively narrowing its claim to encompass only its subcontractor’s negligence. However, as the Court of Appeals

correctly recognized such characterization cannot override the language of the Master Agreement or its own pleadings. See Opinion, A. pp. 1554-55.

When the Master Agreement is read as a whole, the indemnity provisions are broad enough to reach claims involving BFS's own conduct. Under South Carolina law, once a contract implicates the indemnitee's negligence, the provision must satisfy a heightened standard of clarity to be enforceable. Federal Pac. Elec., 298 S.C. at 27, 378 S.E.2d at 58; Ashley II, 409 S.C. at 501, 762 S.E.2d 702. This standard is triggered by the objective scope of the contractual language, not by BFS's subjective litigation strategy or its current theory of recovery.

BFS essentially invites this Court to ignore precedent and "blue pencil" the agreement to limit indemnity solely to subcontractor negligence. Poynter, 387 S.C. at 583, 694 S.E.2d at 18. This Court has long resisted such invitations. Courts interpret contracts as written; they do not revise them to conform to a party's litigation strategy. As this Court has repeatedly held, "[i]t is not the function of the court to rewrite contracts for parties." Lewis., 351 S.C. at 171, 568 S.E.2d at 363.

Because BFS drafted a Master Agreement that implicates its own negligence yet fails to express, in clear and unequivocal terms, an intent to shift that specific liability to ECC, the indemnity provision is unenforceable as a matter of law. BFS nevertheless asks this Court to disregard the portions of the agreement that implicate its own negligence and enforce only the portions it now characterizes as limited to subcontractor fault. But that argument seeks more than interpretation, it seeks reformation of the contract BFS itself drafted. South Carolina law does not permit such judicial revision of a party's own drafting. The Court should therefore decline BFS's request and affirm the indemnity provision cannot be enforced as BFS proposes.

D. ECC cannot be solely at fault for the claims against BFS

Even apart from the contractual language, BFS's attempt to characterize this case as involving only subcontractor negligence is also factually untenable. BFS admitted responsibility for supervising the work performed by ECC and other subcontractors. (R. pp. 688–689). Given that supervisory role, any negligence attributed to ECC would necessarily involve concurrent negligence by BFS. BFS therefore cannot transform a claim involving potential concurrent negligence into one involving sole subcontractor negligence in order to avoid the heightened standard.

E. Concord and Cumberland Supports Affirmance

BFS repeatedly asserts that, under Concord and Cumberland, a contractor may pursue indemnity against a subcontractor for subcontractor's negligence even when the indemnity clause itself fails the clear and unequivocal standard, and, therefore, the general rules of contract construction should apply to its claims. This argument mischaracterizes both the holding and scope of that decision.

In Concord and Cumberland, the subcontractor, The Muhler Company, Inc. ("Muhler"), moved for narrow partial summary judgment seeking a narrow declaration: that the indemnity provision did not require it to indemnify the general contractor, Superior Construction Corporation ("Superior"), for Superior's own negligence. Concord and Cumberland, 424 S.C. at 645, 819 S.E.2d at 170. The issue before the Court of Appeals was therefore specifically confined to whether the contractual language clearly and unequivocally expressed an intent to shift liability for the contractor's own negligence where the contractor's concurrent negligence was implicated. The court held it did not.

What the court in Concord and Cumberland did not decide is equally important. The question of whether a contractor could recover damages attributable solely to subcontractor negligence despite an otherwise unenforceable indemnity agreement was neither raised nor addressed. The subcontractor in that case did not dispute its obligation to indemnify the contractor for damages caused by its own workmanship.

BFS's reliance on Concord and Cumberland as a mechanism to bypass the "clear and unequivocal" standard is misplaced. That decision did not authorize the selective enforcement of a legally deficient indemnity provision. By applying the heightened standard to BFS's broad contractual language, the Court of Appeals in this case did not depart from precedent; it applied it.

F. BFS's Reliance on the Phrase "To the Fullest Extent Permitted by Law" To Limit The Scope of The Indemnity Provisions Is Not Preserved and Fails as a Matter of Law

BFS repeatedly contends that the Court of Appeals erred in finding its indemnity provisions unenforceable because those provisions are prefaced by the phrase "to the fullest extent permitted by law." This argument fails for two independent reasons. First, it was never raised before the trial court or the Court of Appeals and is therefore not preserved for review. Second, even if considered, the argument fails as a matter of law because boilerplate qualifying language cannot cure indemnity provisions that violate South Carolina's Anti-Indemnity Statute or the clear and unequivocal standard.

BFS argues repeatedly that the Court of Appeals erred in ruling its provisions unenforceable because they are prefaced by the phrase "to the fullest extent permitted by law". This argument is not properly preserved on appeal because it was not raised at the Trial Court or Court of Appeals phase. Furthermore, it is vacuous boilerplate language, which if given the

meaning posited by BFS at this late hour, would render a meeting of the minds as to the meaning of the minds even more impossible for these ‘contracts’.

a. The “to the fullest extent permitted by law” argument is not preserved for appellate review

It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife & Marine Resources Dep't, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997). BFS now argues that its indemnity provisions should be enforced because they are prefaced by the phrase “to the fullest extent permitted by law.” That argument, however, was not presented to the trial court, was not argued before the Court of Appeals, and was not raised in BFS’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Because the argument was never raised and ruled upon in the courts below, it is not preserved for review and should not be considered by this Court.

b. The phrase “to the fullest extent permitted by law” does not save the indemnity provision and fails as a matter of law

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